## **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Kaustubh Wagh

Date

Linear growth and child development during early childhood in Bangladesh

By

Kaustubh Wagh Degree to be awarded: MPH

Global Epidemiology

Dr. Aryeh Stein Faculty Thesis Advisor Linear growth and child development during early childhood in Bangladesh

By

## Kaustubh Wagh

Bachelor of Homeopathic Medicine and Surgery Maharashtra University of Health Sciences

2009

&

MBA in Hospital and Health Management IIHMR University

2011

Faculty Thesis Advisor: Dr. Aryeh Stein, MPH, PhD

An abstract of

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Global Epidemiology

2019

## Abstract

Linear growth and child development during early childhood in Bangladesh

By Kaustubh Wagh

Introduction: We assessed the longitudinal relationships between length and motor, and cognitive development among children less than 24 mo in rural Bangladesh.

Design: Prospective longitudinal cohort study with structured home interviews during pregnancy and 3, 9, 16 and 24 mo after delivery.

Setting: Two rural sub-districts (Karimganj; Katiadi) of Kishoreganj district, Bangladesh.

Subjects: Mother-infant dyads.

Results: We observed decrease in mean length-for-age Z (LAZ) scores from -1.1 at 3 mo to -2.3 at 24 mo. Similar trend was observed in head circumference z-scores (HCZ) although BMI z-scores (BMIZ) remained constant between 3 to 24 mo. For one unit increase in LAZ score at 3 mo, the motor z-score at 9 mo increased by 0.10 (95% CI 0.07, 0.14). Similarly, one unit change in LAZ score at 9 mo and 16 mo was associated with increase in motor z-scores at 16 mo and 24 mo by 0.16 (95% CI 0.12, 0.20) and 0.12 (95% CI 0.08, 0.16) respectively. Additionally, for one unit increase in LAZ score at 9 and 16 mo, the cognitive z-score at 16 and 24 mo was increased by 0.12 (95% CI 0.08, 0.16) and 0.11 (95% CI 0.07, 0.16) respectively. Thus, increase mean motor and cognitive scores was observed with decrease in the severity of stunting at specified time-point as well as with age of children. These measures were adjusted maternal education, BMI z-scores of children, initiation of complementary feeding along with wave of enrollment, and sub-district of origin.

Conclusions: Our analysis showed that lagged LAZ score was significantly associated with both motor and cognitive development during the first 24 mo of life. This association was highest when outcome is measured at 16 mo. Thus, reduction in the prevalence of stunting before 16 mo will have significant effect on motor as well as cognitive development during the first 24 mo of a child's life.

Linear growth and child development during early childhood in Bangladesh

By

Kaustubh Wagh

Bachelor of Homeopathic Medicine and Surgery Maharashtra University of Health Sciences 2009

&

MBA in Hospital and Health Management IIHMR University 2011

Faculty Thesis Advisor: Dr. Aryeh Stein, MPH, PhD

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the

Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Global Epidemiology

2019

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter I: Literature Review
Chapter II: Manuscript
2.1 Abstract
2.2 Introduction
2.3 Methods
2.3.1 The original intervention
2.3.2 Recruitment of the cohort and timing of assessments
2.3.3 Measurement of length
2.3.4 Measurement of development
2.3.5 Measurement of other variables10
2.3.6 Data Manipulation10
2.3.7 Statistical Analysis1
2.4 Results13
2.5 Discussion
2.6 Tables
2.7 Figures
Chapter 4: Implications
4.1 Summary
4.2 Public Health Implications
4.2.1 Future Directions
References
Appendices
Supplementary Tables
IRB Approval Letter 4
Study Protocol Approval 42
Assessment 44

#### **CHAPTER I: LITERATURE REVIEW**

Early childhood development is the attainment of gross motor, fine motor, and cognitive abilities including language or communication, problem-solving, and social skills (1). The gross motor skills are the use of large muscles to achieve sitting, crawling and walking in early life. The fine motor skills are the use of small muscles in the hands and fingers to perform tasks like picking up small objects and feeding. Cognitive development refers to how a child perceives, thinks, and gains an understanding of his or her world and includes remembering, problem-solving, and decision-making. Language or communication skills is the ability to understand others and to express oneself, both verbal and nonverbal. Social skills are the child's interactions with their family and other children (2). The human brain develops through neurogenesis, axonal and dendritic growth, synaptogenesis, cell death, synaptic pruning, myelination, and gliogenesis (3). The brain grows more rapidly after conception and during the first three years of life than other times (1,2,3). Advances in brain science have documented that the origins of adult health and well-being are grounded in early childhood, from conception through the age of 24 months (mo) (5). Developmental delays are apparent among children before 12 mo, and these delays worsen during early childhood (6).

An estimated 80.8 million children (36.8%) of three and four-year-olds across 35 low and middle-income countries (LMICs) do not attain basic cognitive and socioemotional skills (7). There are an estimated 219 million children (almost 39% less than five years of age) in low-income and middle-income countries who are at risk of not reaching their developmental potential (7,15).

Linear growth failure is pronounced in the first 12–18 mo of child age (8). Stunting before the age of 24 mo is particularly problematic as it is related to poor child development (5).

Stunting is defined as when a child's length or height is below negative two standard deviations (SDs) from World Health Organization (WHO)'s child growth Standards median for the same age and sex (9,10). Stunted growth is one of the critical risk factors that prevent children from reaching their developmental potential (11). Globally, there are an estimated 150 million under-five children who are stunted (16).

Each unit increase in length-for-age z score (LAZ) was associated with higher (+0.24-SD) increase in cognitive score among children less than 24 mo compared to children greater than 24 mo (+0.09 SD) (12). Studies from low-income and middleincome countries indicate that the first 24 mo after birth (13,14) is the most crucial period when linear growth is associated with later cognition, executive function, and school attainment. This association is weakened after 24 mo (12,14). Studies which examined the effect of macronutrient supplementation indicated the importance of the first 24 mo for intellectual development (15). Improvements in height-for-age might occur after 24 mo, but associations with cognitive gains remain uncertain (6,12,13, 15,16). As stunting-attributable developmental deficits among children, less than 24 mo of age has considerable consequences at the population-level, this has been identified as an ongoing priority area of global research (under the thematic goal of "Advance identification of risk factors, and a better understanding of the burden") (17). Thus, the initial 24 mo of life is a crucial period to quantify the association between linear growth and cognitive development to inform the development of evidence-based intervention programs.

Two meta-analyses and several cross-sectional studies provide initial evidence on the link between impaired linear growth and child development (11,12,16,17). In addition, the analysis of longitudinal data from prospective cohorts from Guatemala, Philippines, Jamaica, Peru, Kenya, Indonesia, Brazil, and South Africa, showed the association of stunting between 12 and 36 mo of age with lower school grades in middle childhood (20, 23, 24, 26, 27). Cebu Longitudinal Health and Nutrition Survey from the Philippines showed that for every increase of one Z-score in linear growth, cognitive ability increased by approximately 0.08 standard deviation (P < 0.001) among children of 11 years of age (24). The study by Berkman DS et al. among Peruvian children between 12 and 24 mo of age reported the association of severe growth retardation  $(LAZ \le 3 \text{ SD})$  with a ten-point deficit in Intelligence quotient (IQ) at nine years of age (19). A meta-analysis of studies from 29 low and middle-income countries showed each unit increase in LAZ for children less than 24 mo of age was associated with a +0.22-SD (95% CI, 0.17-0.27) increase in cognition at 5 to 11 years (12). In South Asia, the study found that cognitive development was negatively associated with stunting (OR = 0.72, 95% CI [0.60, 0.86]) among children aged 36-59 mo (29). Further, the systematic review and meta-analysis of more than 20 studies of nutrition interventions in low and middle-income countries (LMICs) found an association of stunting among children under two years with cognitive development at follow up within a year (20,21). Collectively, these prospective cohort studies consistently showed significant associations between stunting by the age of 24 or 36 mo and later cognitive deficits, and school achievement (19,22-25). However, only one recent study showed no significant relationship between stunting and poor school progress (28).

Among children aged less than 24 mo, an association of length-for-age z score (LAZ) at 6 mo with cognition (language) was  $0.13 \pm 0.02$  SD and rate of change of LAZ from 6 to 18 mo was  $0.11 \pm 0.03$  SD (27). The odds of stunting for low Bayley cognitive scores at 9 and 24 mo ranged from 2.0-2.9 (p<0.05) (28). Moreover, lower LAZ at 4 and 12 mo were associated with lower cognitive function scores at 24 mo (p  $\leq 0.03$ ) (33). Furthermore, the study among children in Burkina Faso, Ghana, and

Malawi showed that for the motor score, an estimate of the association of length-forage z score (LAZ) at 6 mo was  $0.16 \pm 0.02$  SD and the rate of change of LAZ from 6 to 18 mo was  $0.22 \pm 0.03$  SD. The odds of stunting for low Bayley motor scores at 9 and 24 mo ranged from 1.8 to 3.3 (p<0.05) (27). Also, stunting increased the odds of not standing alone at 11 mo and not walking alone at 18 mo by 9.7 and 6.1, respectively (29). However, the Kenyan study showed that height is not related to motor development at 6 mo of age (30). Collectively, these demonstrate there is an association between LAZ and both cognition and motor scores among children less than 24 mo; however, this association remains to be uncertain and linearly quantified.

Studies suggest various mechanistic pathways from stunting to poor cognitive development including neurological (31), infectious disease-related (11,13) and hormonal (32). A study by Chandy C *et al.* proposed three mechanisms linking early stunting to early childhood development. These include: (a) biological insults that disrupt early brain development, (b) delayed motor skills that may disrupt the exploration associated with cognitive development, and (c) reduced expectations from parents and peers, based on short stature (31). Thus, stunted children are continually under nutritional stress and prone to infections including higher incidence of diarrhea leading to poor cognitive development (33,34).

The timing of stunting assessment appears to be critical. During the early ages of undernutrition (nutritional insults), notable recovery of height (known as catch-up growth) is often possible with interventions. Generally, the earlier the interventions, the larger the benefit (35,36). The timing of catch-up growth before five years of age is unknown and can occur within the first two years of life (37). Further, a study from Guatemala showed that growth and development were related up to age 24 mo but not from 24 to 36 mo (38).

We found that most of the current literature is focused on cognitive development among children greater than two years of age. Furthermore, the association between linear growth and cognitive or motor development among children less than two years remains to be uncertain and linearly quantified. Due to this gap in the literature, we aim to evaluate the association between linear growth (retardation) and motor skills as well as cognitive development among children less than 24 mo of age. To best of our knowledge, currently, there has been no prospective cohort study of cognitive development at less than two years of age in Bangladesh, which low-income settings with a high prevalence of poor nutrition and enteric diseases.

Further, stunting levels in South Asia are very high, particularly Bangladesh (prevalence is estimated to be 36%) (17). Bangladesh is among the top thirty countries in terms of the prevalence of stunting in children less than five years of age (17). Considering the implication on public health policy, it is essential to know the association between stunting and cognition among children less than 24 mo in Bangladesh.

The researchers from Emory University and CARE-USA conducted a prospective cohort study to evaluate the impact of a nutrition intervention in a low socio-economic setting in Bangladesh. We used the data from this impact evaluation to study the association between linear growth (and stunting) at the ages of 3, 9 and 16 mo with motor development at the ages of 9, 16, and 24 mo as well as cognitive development at 16 and 24 mo.

#### **CHAPTER II: MANUSCRIPT**

#### Linear growth and child development during early childhood in Bangladesh

## Kaustubh Wagh<sup>1</sup>, Aryeh D Stein<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Emory University, Rollins School of Public Health, Atlanta, Georgia

## Abstract:

Introduction: We assessed the longitudinal relationships between length and motor, and cognitive development among children less than 24 mo in rural Bangladesh.

Design: Prospective longitudinal cohort study with structured home interviews during pregnancy and 3, 9, 16 and 24 mo after delivery.

Setting: Two rural sub-districts (Karimganj; Katiadi) of Kishoreganj district, Bangladesh.

Subjects: Mother-infant dyads.

Results: We observed decrease in mean length-for-age Z (LAZ) scores from -1.1 at 3 mo to -2.3 at 24 mo. Similar trend was observed in head circumference z-scores (HCZ) although BMI z-scores (BMIZ) remained constant between 3 to 24 mo. For one unit increase in LAZ score at 3 mo, the motor z-score at 9 mo increased by 0.10 (95% CI 0.07, 0.14). Similarly, one unit change in LAZ score at 9 mo and 16 mo was associated with increase in motor z-scores at 16 mo and 24 mo by 0.16 (95% CI 0.12, 0.20) and 0.12 (95% CI 0.08, 0.16) respectively. Additionally, for one unit increase in LAZ score at 9 and 16 mo, the cognitive z-score at 16 and 24 mo was increased by 0.12 (95% CI 0.08, 0.16) and 0.11 (95% CI 0.07, 0.16) respectively. Thus, increase mean motor and cognitive scores was observed with decrease in the severity of stunting at specified time-point as well as with age of children. These measures were adjusted maternal education, BMI z-scores of children, initiation of complementary feeding along with wave of enrollment, and sub-district of origin.

Conclusions: Our analysis showed that lagged LAZ score was significantly associated with both motor and cognitive development during the first 24 mo of life. This association was highest when outcome is measured at 16 mo. Thus, reduction in the prevalence of stunting before 16 mo will have significant effect on motor as well as cognitive development during the first 24 mo of a child's life.

### **Introduction:**

Developmental delays are apparent among children before 12 mo, and these delays worsen during early childhood (6). There are an estimated 219 million children (almost 39% less than five years of age) in low-income and middle-income countries who are at risk of not reaching their developmental potential (7,15). An estimated 80.8 million children (36.8%) of three and four-year-olds across 35 low and middle-income countries (LMICs) do not attain basic cognitive and socio-emotional skills (7).

Linear growth failure is pronounced in the first 12–18 mo of child age (8). Stunting before the age of 24 mo is particularly problematic as it is related to poor child development (5). Stunting is defined as when a child's length or height is below negative two standard deviations (SDs) from World Health Organization (WHO)'s child growth Standards median for the same age and sex (9,10). Globally, there are an estimated 150 million under-five children who are stunted (16).

Previous studies from low-income and middle-income countries consistently showed significant associations between stunting by the age of 24 or 36 mo and later cognitive deficits, and school achievement (19,22–25). As stunting-attributable developmental deficits among children, less than 24 mo of age has considerable consequences at the population-level, this has been identified as an ongoing priority area of global research (under the thematic goal of "Advance identification of risk factors, and a better understanding of the burden") (17). Studies among children aged less than 24 mo demonstrate there is an association between LAZ and both cognition, and motor scores; however, this association remains to be uncertain and linearly quantified (27,28,29,30).

Studies suggest various mechanistic pathways from stunting to poor cognitive development including neurological (31), infectious disease-related (11,13) and

hormonal (32). Stunted children are continually under nutritional stress and prone to infections including higher incidence of diarrhea leading to poor cognitive development (33,34). To best of our knowledge, currently, there has been no prospective cohort study of cognitive development at less than two years of age in Bangladesh, which low-income settings with a high prevalence of poor nutrition (prevalence of stunting is estimated to be 36%) and enteric diseases.

The researchers from Emory University and CARE-USA conducted a prospective cohort study to evaluate the impact of a nutrition intervention in a low socio-economic setting in Bangladesh. We used the data from this impact evaluation to study the association between linear growth (and stunting) at the ages of 3, 9 and 16 mo with motor development at the ages of 9, 16, and 24 mo as well as cognitive development at 16 and 24 mo.

## **Methods:**

#### The original intervention:

CARE, USA implemented a community-based Infant and Young Child Feeding (IYCF) program in Bangladesh. The program was known in Bengali as "Akhoni Shomay"- Window of Opportunity. The intervention area was Karimganj, a rural subdistrict of Kishoreganj, where pregnant women and mothers with newborns were eligible to voluntarily participate in behavior change communication activities and receive multiple micronutrient supplementation. A non-adjacent sub-district (Katiadi) in the same district (Kishoreganj) served as a control. Previously published articles described the details of the cohort, program and data collection instruments (39–41).

International Centre for Diarrheal Disease Research, Bangladesh (ICDDR, B) approved the original study protocol. Researchers received a waiver from

Emory IRB review after determining that researchers are not "engaged" in research with human subjects.

## Recruitment of the cohort and timing of assessments:

The cohort enrolled 1200 pregnant women between January 2011 to January 2014 from Karimganj. An equal number of pregnant women were enrolled from Katiadi. Pregnant women were recruited in their seventh month of gestation, with follow-up of their offspring scheduled at 3, 9, 16, and 24 mo of age. The first wave of participants was recruited in January and February 2011, the second was recruited in May, and June 2011, and the third and final wave was enrolled in September and October 2011.

#### Measurement of length:

The length of the child was measured at the ages of 3, 9, 16 and 24 mo followup by trained study personnel using methods prescribed by WHO (39). The length measurements were recorded in duplicate, with the average used in analyses.

### Measurement of development:

There were two primary outcome measures in this study: child motor development and child cognitive development. Child motor development was assessed at the ages of 9, 16 and 24 mo and cognitive development was assessed at 16 and 24 mo. The motor skills at the age of 9 mo were assessed using the WHO motor development standards (40). The WHO motor development standards evaluate acquisition of key gross motor skills (which are fundamental to self-sufficient erect locomotion) through six milestones: sitting, crawling, standing without help, standing with help, walking without help, and walking with help. Furthermore, motor and cognitive development were assessed at the age of 16 mo using Ages and Stages Questionnaire (ASQ-3) (41), and at the age of 24 mo using CDC's developmental milestones screening checklist (42). Ages and Stages Questionnaire, third edition (ASQ-3, 2009) evaluates communication, gross motor, fine motor, problem-solving, and personal-social skills (41). Similar to ASQ-3, CDC's developmental milestones screening checklist evaluates communication, social/emotional skills, problem-solving, and physical development. We calculated index (composite) scores across all scales.

#### Measurement of other variables:

Birth order was estimated from the number of total births at the time of recruitment of pregnant women. Only singleton births were considered. At each eligible visit weight, length and head circumference of children were measured using standard procedures. Body mass index (BMI) of children was calculated as kg/m2. BMI and head circumference (HC) were converted to z scores with the use of the age-appropriate WHO reference (42). Initiation of complementary feeding (CF) at the infant age of less than 6 mo (expressed as yes/no) was estimated from variables- 'time when an infant was first given- any liquid', 'water' and 'solid/semi-solid.' Other covariates considered for analysis were maternal age, education, and height, counseling during pregnancy, a wave of the cohort, exclusive breastfeeding till 3 mo, sex and head circumference of the child.

#### Data manipulation:

The length was converted to z scores with the use of the age-appropriate WHO reference (41,42). We used WHO's SAS igrowup package for calculation of Length-for-age Z-scores (LAZs) (43). We used the LAZ scores as the primary exposure for the

study. Given the longitudinal nature of the data, a lag in LAZ score (by 6-8 mo) was built into our analyses in which the outcome measures (cognitive development and motor skills) were compared to the LAZ scores at previous measurement time-point. As a result, LAZ at 24 mo was dropped as it was not needed.

Furthermore, the motor and cognitive index scores were standardized using internal mean and standard deviation (refer to Table 2). The use of standardized scores permits comparison of a child's motor and cognitive performance over time within as well as across children.

Using the WHO guideline of extreme LAZ scores, we decided to exclude the observations with LAZ scores below -6 or more than 6 (42). These observations could be due to measurement error and cause potential bias. There were 34 such observations across all time-points. As mentioned earlier, we also excluded LAZ scores at 24 mo of age; thus, only LAZ scores at the ages of 3, 9, and 16 mo were considered for analysis.

### Statistical analysis:

#### Descriptive:

Maternal height, child Length, BMI, and head circumference, Motor and cognitive index scores, were treated as continuous variables. Child sex, birth order, exclusive breastfeeding at 3 mo, initiation of complementary feeding before 6 mo, maternal education, and age, sub-district origin, and enrollment wave were treated as categorical variables. Maternal age was categorized as <20 y, 20-24 y, 25-29 y, 30-34 y, and >=35 y. Based on the number of years of education, maternal education was categorized into four groups (No formal education, Primary (1-5 y), Secondary (6-13 y), and Higher (>13 y)). Descriptive data are summarized in Tables 1 and 2. Continuous variables were summarized as mean and standard deviation. Categorical variables were summarized as column percentages while showing only relevant categories.

## Model building:

LAZ scores were used as indicator of size and changes in Z-scores over time as indicator of growth. We assessed associations between LAZ scores at specified times (3, 9, and 16 mo) and child development at the next measurement times (9, 16, and 24 mo). We examined the following relationships: 1) LAZ score as a predictor of the motor z-score and 2) LAZ score as a predictor of the cognitive z-score. The pearson correlation coefficient between outcome measures at different time-points was calculated. We also randomly sampled 100 individuals and looked at trajectories for average change in motor as well as cognitive z-scores (at each time-point) over lagged length-for-age z-scores. Considering the outcome measures were forced to not change on average over time and weak correlation between them across different time-points (Tables 3B and 3C), we used linear models for analysis.

All analyses were conducted in SAS (Version 9.4, SAS Institute, Cary, NC) software. The SAS 'proc glm' procedure was used for multivariable linear regression analysis. The level of significance for statistical tests was set to p <0.05. Based on the previous studies and logical sequence of events, we considered all potential covariates in a full model. We arrived at a final model with the use of backward elimination. We did separate modeling each for our two outcomes of interest: motor and cognition z-scores. To check the fitness of the model, we conducted likelihood ratio tests comparing full and reduced (final) models.

### Exploratory analyses:

Through plotting of observed data, we tried to explore the relationship between mean motor Z-scores at the age of 9, 16, and 24 mo and three different levels of LAZ scores at the ages 3, 9, and 16 mo, respectively (**Figure 2**). Based on WHO standards, the LAZ scores were categorized into three levels as <-3 (severe stunting), between  $\geq$ -

3 and< -2 (moderate stunting) and  $\geq$ -2 LAZ (no stunting) (43). We also plotted mean cognitive z-score at 16 and 24 mo against different levels of LAZ scores (as mentioned above) at 9 and 16 mo, respectively (**Figure 3**). With the use of the final model, we estimated mean motor and cognitive Z-score at three different LAZs (<-3,  $\geq$ -3 and< -2,  $\geq$ -2) using the final reduced model. We also estimated the difference in mean motor and cognitive Z-scores between no stunting and other categories. All analyses were adjusted for the selected child characteristics (sex, BMIZ, birth order, exclusive breastfeeding (EBF), and initiation of complementary feeding (CF)) and maternal characteristics (counseling during pregnancy, age, height, and education). We also adjusted for sub-district of origin and cohort enrollment wave to control for possible intervention and enrollment wave-specific fixed effects, respectively.

## **Results:**

Out of the 2400 women recruited, we completed follow-up from 2011 to 2014, of 2192, 2074, 1969, and 1885 mother-child dyads at 3, 9, 16, and 24 mo of infant age, respectively (**Figure 1**). Attrition rates did not differ between the two sub-districts. Maternal age, height, education, and counseling during pregnancy were similar across the two sub-districts. The distribution of infant sex, birth order, initiation of complementary feeding before six months, infant length, Body Mass Index (BMI) and head circumference at 3, 9, 16 and 24 mo were similar in both the intervention and control group. However, a higher proportion of infants received exclusive breastfeeding until three mo in the intervention sub-district (**Table 1**).

We observed a decrease in mean LAZ scores from -1.1 at 3 mo to -2.3 at 24 mo. Similarly, the head-circumference-for-age z-score dropped from -0.6 to -1.5 between same period. However, BMI-for-age z-score remained constant at -0.5 between 3 to 24 mo except for 16 mo (-0.6) (**Table 2**). Mean motor development index scores were similar across the intervention and control groups at each time point. However, the mean cognitive development index scores were higher in the intervention sub-district. This difference was lost by age 24 mo.

We computed a Pearson correlation coefficient to assess the relationship between LAZ scores at different time-points (**Table 3A**). The LAZ scores at 3 mo had moderate positive correlation with LAZ scores at 9, 16 and 24 mo [r = 0.64 (p < 0.01), 0.60 (p < 0.01), 0.57 (p < 0.01), respectively]. However, LAZ scores at 9 mo had strong positive correlation with LAZ scores at 16 and 24 mo, respectively [r = 0.84 (p < 0.01), 0.80 (p < 0.01)]. Similarly, strong positive correlation was observed between LAZ at 16 mo and 24 mo [r=0.88 (p < 0.01)]. Thus, we observed with an increase in age, there was an increase in the correlation between LAZ scores measured at subsequent time-points. Further, we calculated the correlation within 9, 16 and 24 mo of motor z-scores (**Table 3B**) as well as 16 and 24 mo of cognitive z scores. Within each time-point, we observed weak positive correlations for both outcomes [where all r < 0.30, (p < 0.01)].

**Table 4A** represents the multivariable regression coefficients for the association between motor z-scores at 9, 16 and 24 mo and lagged LAZ scores at 3, 9 and 16 mo, respectively, adjusted for intervention, enrollment wave, Body Mass Index (BMI) zscores, initiation of complementary feeding before 6 mo, maternal education. For each unit increase of LAZ score at 3 mo, the motor z-score at 9 mo increased by 0.10 (95% CI 0.07, 0.14). Furthermore, one unit change in LAZ score at 9 mo and 16 mo was associated with the increase in motor z-scores at 16 mo and 24 mo by 0.16 (95% CI 0.12, 0.20) and 0.12 (95% CI 0.08, 0.16) respectively. Similarly, an association was found between BMI z-scores and motor z-scores at all time-points. However, this association decreased consistently from 9 to 24 mo (0.11 to 0.07). The motor z-scores at 9 and 24 mo among children in intervention group was 0.13 (p<0.01) and 0.95 (p<0.01) higher compared to control group, respectively. The initiation of the complementary feeding after 6 mo (compared to < 6 mo) was associated with 0.12 (p<0.01) increase in motor z-score at 9 mo. However, this relationship weakened at 16 and 24 mo. Motor z-scores at all timepoints were higher if child's mother has secondary level of education compared to no education. The coefficient with adjustment of some additional variables presented as supplementary tables (Table 6A). While results of parsimonious model presented here.

**Table 4B** presents the multivariable regression coefficients for the association between cognitive z-scores at ages 16 and 24 mo and LAZ scores at ages 9 and 16 mo, respectively, adjusted for intervention, BMI z-scores, and maternal education. For one unit increase in LAZ score at 9 and 16 mo, the cognitive z-score at 16 and 24 mo was increased by 0.12 (95% CI 0.08, 0.16) and 0.11 (95% CI 0.07, 0.16) respectively. Like motor z-scores, the association between BMI z-scores and cognitive z-scores reduced from 16 to 24 mo. Thus, BMI z-score is a significant predicator of cognitive z-score at 16 mo but not at 24 mo. The average cognitive z score at 16 and 24 mo among children in intervention group was 0.12 (p<0.01) and 0.30 (p<0.01), respectively, higher than control group. Children achieved higher cognitive z scores, as maternal education changed from primary to higher level. The coefficient with adjustment of some additional variables presented as supplementary tables (Table 6B). While results of parsimonious model presented here.

Furthermore, we observed with a decrease in severity of stunting (i.e. increase in LAZ scores) at the age of 3, 9, and 16 mo, there was a rise in the mean motor Z-scores at the age of 9, 16, and 24 mo, respectively. (**Figure 2**). We observed a similar trend between the LAZ scores at ages 9 and 16 mo and the mean cognition z-scores at

ages 16 and 24 mo, respectively (**Figure 3**). Using final models, we estimated average motor and cognitive z-scores at different levels of stunting (**Table 5**). An estimated motor z-score at 9, 16 and 24 mo for non-stunted children was 0.06 (+/- 0.10), 0.10 (+/- 0.10), and 0.54 (+/- 0.10) respectively. As there was a decrease in LAZ score (i.e. increased in severity of stunting), the significant decline in mean motor z-score was observed. The difference in mean motor z-score between non-stunted children and moderately or severely stunted children was highest at 9 mo. This difference gradually reduced from 9 to 24 mo. An estimated cognitive z-score at 16 and 24 mo for non-stunted children was 0.26 (+/- 0.07) and 0.27 (+/- 0.08) respectively. With the increase in the severity of stunting, a significant decline in cognitive z-score was observed. The difference in mean cognitive z-scores between non-stunted and moderately or severely stunted children was 0.26 (+/- 0.07) and 0.27 (+/- 0.08) respectively. With the increase in the severity of stunting, a significant decline in cognitive z-score was observed. The difference in mean cognitive z-scores between non-stunted and moderately or severely stunted children in cognitive z-score was observed.

## **Discussion:**

The objective of this study was to examine the association between LAZ score and the motor and cognitive z-scores in a cohort of Bangladeshi children. Our analysis found that LAZ score was significantly associated with both motor and cognitive development during the first 2 years of life, among children in Bangladesh. With the increase in LAZ score, the significant increase in a motor as well as cognitive z -scores was observed. These findings corroborate the findings of other studies conducted in other regions (27,28). In addition, head circumference z-score was not a significant predictor of the motor or cognitive z-scores (data not shown). Previous studies showed a stronger association between LAZ score and motor development compared to an association between LAZ score and cognitive development (38). However, as per our analysis, we found the association between LAZ scores and motor development to not be meaningfully different from the association between LAZ score and cognitive development.

## Strengths and limitations:

There are several strengths and limitations to this study. The standardized outcome measures over time are not strongly correlated. Also, these outcome measures were linearly changing with LAZ scores, so we could use the linear models. This allowed us to study the association between LAZ scores and cognitive or motor development at each specified time-point. Further, in our analyses, we lagged the LAZ scores to the previous measurement time points. Hence, our exposure was able to precede the outcome and associations were assessed prospectively. Unlike some previous studies which used WAZ scores, we used the BMIZ score which is also an indicator of undernutrition (26,38). Along with LAZ score, BMIZ score was also a significant predictor of both motor and cognitive development even after adjusting for covariates (Tables 4A and 4B). In addition to the prospective study design, another strength of this study was that we excluded very few observations based on extreme values of LAZ (<-6 and >+6). We anticipate our results are minimally impacted by measurement error. This study benefited from a large sample size of children under the age of two and the use of a standardized general developmental screening tool, the Age and Stages Questionnaire (ASQ) scale. The ASQ is cost-effective and could be completed within 12-18 minutes with a test-retest reliability of 92%, sensitivity of 87.4% and specificity of 95.7% (37). Moreover, validity has been examined across different cultures and communities across the world (37).

One limitation of this study was that by 24 mo, almost 500 mother-infant dyads were lost to follow up. The reason for this loss to follow up was either maternal or infant death, out-migration, or refusal to participate. While this is high attrition, we expect that the loss to follow up due to maternal or infant deaths may have had worse outcomes than those retained in the study, which would, in fact, increase the strength of the association in our findings. Additionally, loss to follow up due to out-migration was random and hence will not lead to selection bias. However, the potential for selection bias from loss to follow-up due to refusal cannot be ruled out.

Multiple mechanistic pathways linking linear growth retardation and motor, or cognitive development have been proposed. First, it is hypothesized that a smaller body size affects motor activity, which would limit the child's ability to access stimulation (12, 42) and reduce opportunities for cognitive development (21). The second mechanism is the "Rosenthal Effect"- where a child's short stature lowers the caregivers' expectations about the child's development[45]. In contrast a study suggests linear growth retardation as not part of the mechanistic path leading to delayed cognitive and motor development (20) Thus, linear growth retardation and child development are not likely causally related but associated through a set of shared determinants (undernutrition, inadequate care, and repeated infections) (45).

Furthermore, a child's motor, psychosocial, and cognitive development occur interactively and dynamically with significant influence from their social environments (46). The lack of focus of the present study on mechanistic assessment prohibits a definitive framework for pathways and mediators of motor and cognitive development among young children. Expanding upon this current work, future studies should focus on identifying a definitive pathway linking linear growth (retardation) to the motor or cognitive development. In conclusion, length is a significant predictor of both motor and cognitive development during the first 24 mo of a child's life. This association is highest at 16 months. Additionally, difference in motor development among non-stunted and moderately or severely stunted children gradually reduce with the age of children. More evidence from developing countries will help explain the underlying mechanisms and identify appropriate interventions to prevent neurodevelopmental delay in early childhood.

## **TABLES**

	Overall	l Intervention				Control
	Total	Total	Wave 1	Wave 2	Wave 3	Total
Maternal Characteris	tics					
Height, centimeter <sup>1</sup>	149.7	150	149.5	150.1	150.6	149.3
	(5.4)	(5.5)	(5.9)	(5.4)	(5.2)	(5.3)
Maternal age, years <sup>2</sup>						
<20	19.3	15.5	11.0	20.3	15.3	23.0
20-24	33.6	34.9	35.8	34.5	34.5	32.3
25-29	26.8	27.2	27.0	25.5	29.0	26.3
30-34	14.2	15.6	18.0	15.5	13.3	12.8
>=35	6.1	6.8	8.3	4.3	8.0	5.6
Education <sup>2</sup>						
No Education	24.5	25.5	32.3	22.5	21.8	23.5
Primary	36.4	40.0	36.8	45.3	38.0	32.8
Secondary	30.0	25.1	22.0	24.0	29.3	34.9
Higher	0.6	0.3	0.0	0.5	0.5	0.9
Missing	8.5	9.1	9.0	7.8	10.5	7.9
Counseling during	(2.0	(1.0	47 0	<i>c</i> 1 <i>c</i>		(2.2.2)
Pregnancy <sup>2</sup>	62.0	61.8	47.0	61.5	76.8	62.3
Infants' Characteristic						
Sex <sup>2</sup> Female	50.3	50.5	50.0	52.3	49.0	50.1
Birth Order <sup>2</sup>						
1	27.0	26.7	23.6	29.4	26.9	27.3
2	24.2	25.2	24.5	25.1	26.1	23.1
>=3	48.9	48.2	51.9	45.5	47.1	49.5
Length at <sup>1</sup>						
3 months	57.9	57.8	58.1	57.5	57.9	58.0
5 months	(2.5)	(2.4)	(2.2)	(2.4)	(2.6)	(2.4)
9 months	67.2	67.1	66.9	66.9	67.6	67.1
> months	(2.9)	(3.0)	(2.7)	(3.4)	(2.7)	(2.7)
16 Months	73.8	73.8	73.7	73.6	74.1	73.8
10 Months	(3.1)	(3.0)	(2.8)	(3.0)	(3.1)	(3.1)
24 Months	80.0	80.0	79.6	80.1	80.3	79.9
	(3.4)	(3.5)	(3.2)	(3.8)	(3.4)	(3.3)
BMI at <sup>1</sup>						
	15.9	15.9	15.9	16.0	15.9	15.8
3 months	(1.7)	(1.6)	(1.7)	(1.7)	(1.5)	(1.7)
	16.2	16.3	16.4	16.2	16.2	16.2
9 months	(3.3)	(4.1)	(1.7)	(6.6)	(1.5)	(2.3)
	15.4	15.4	15.3	15.4	15.6	15.5
16 Months	(1.5)	(1.3)	(1.3)	(1.2)	(1.3)	(1.7)
	15.1	15.1	15.4	15.0	15.0	15.0
24 Months	(1.4)					
_ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	(1.4)	(1.5)	(1.4)	(1.8)	(1.2)	(1.4)

## Table 1. Characteristics of Infants and Mothers

	Overall		Interv	rention	Control	
	Total	Total	Wave 1	Wave 2	Wave 3	Total
Head Circumference <sup>1</sup>						
2	39.1	39.1	39.2	39.0	39.0	39.1
3 months	(1.4)	(1.4)	(1.4)	(1.4)	(1.4)	(1.4)
0 1	42.9	42.9	42.7	42.8	43.0	42.8
9 months	(1.4)	(1.5)	(1.4)	(1.4)	(1.5)	(1.4)
16 Months	44.6	44.6	44.7	44.5	44.6	44.5
16 Months	(1.4)	(1.4)	(1.4)	(1.3)	(1.5)	(1.4)
24 Months	45.7	45.6	45.7	45.6	45.7	45.7
24 Monuis	(1.7)	(1.4)	(1.4)	(1.4)	(1.5)	(1.9)
EBF at 3 months <sup>2</sup>	21.8	33.8	36.0	38.7	26.6	9.9
$CFI > 6 months^2$	18.1	15.3	14.5	14.8	16.7	21.0

## Table 1. Characteristics of Infants and Mothers

<sup>1</sup> Mean (SD) <sup>2</sup> Percentage

	Over	rall	Interve	ntion	Control	
-	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Length-for-age Z score						
3 months	-1.1	1.2	-1.0	1.2	-1.1	1.2
9 months	-1.7	1.1	-1.6	1.0	-1.7	1.1
16 months	-2.2	1.0	-2.2	1.0	-2.3	1.1
24 months	-2.3	1.0	-2.3	1.0	-2.3	1.0
BMI-for-age Z score						
3 months	-0.5	1.1	-0.4	1.1	-0.5	1.2
9 months	-0.5	1.1	-0.5	1.0	-0.6	1.1
16 months	-0.6	1.0	-0.5	0.9	-0.6	1.0
24 months	-0.5	1.0	-0.4	0.9	-0.5	1.0
Head Circumference-for	-age Z sco	re				
3 months	-0.6	1.1	-0.5	1.1	-0.6	1.1
9 months	-1.2	1.0	-1.2	1.0	-1.2	0.9
16 months	-1.4	0.9	-1.4	0.9	-1.5	0.9
24 months	-1.5	0.9	-1.5	0.9	-1.5	0.9
Motor Development Ind	ex scores <sup>a</sup>					
9 months	3.4	1.0	3.5	0.9	3.4	1.0
16 months	80.0	25.3	79.4	24.4	80.7	26.0
24 months	4.5	0.8	4.8	0.5	4.1	0.8
Cognitive Development	Index scor	es <sup>a</sup>				
16 months	142.6	32.5	144.2	31.0	141.0	33.9
24 months	16.2	1.6	16.5	1.7	16.0	1.6

Table 2. Length for age Z scores and measure of physical and cognitive development

<sup>a</sup> WHO motor development six milestones at 9 months; Ages and Stages Questionnaire (ASQ-3) at 16 month & Composite score from CDC's Developmental Milestones for 2-year old

Note: 9-month motor score on a scale of 6, 16-month motor score on a scale of 120, 24month motor score on a scale of 5; 16-month motor score on a scale of 189, 24-month motor score on a scale of 22

LAZ scores at	3mo	9 mo	16 mo	24 mo
3 mo	-			
9 mo	0.64	-		
16 mo	0.60	0.84	-	
24 mo	0.57	0.80	0.88	-

 Table 3A: Pearson Correlation among length-for-age z-scores

Table 3B: Pearson Correlation among motor z-scores

Motor z scores at	9 mo	16 mo	24 mo
9 mo	-		
16 mo	0.29	-	
24 mo	0.19	0.19	-

 Table 3C: Pearson Correlation among cognitive z-scores

Cognitive z-scores at	16 mo	24 mo
16 mo	-	
24 mo	0.26	-

Parameter	Coeff at	95%	Coeff at	95%	Coeff at	95%
1 drameter	9 mo	CI	16 mo	CI	24 mo	CI
Intercept	-0.06	-0.17,	0.29	0.06,	-0.22	-0.36, -
Intercept	-0.00	0.05	0.29	0.43	-0.22	0.08
LAZ score	0.10	0.07,	0.16	0.12,	0.12	0.08,
	0.10	0.14	0.10	0.20	0.12	0.16
Intervention	0.13	0.05,	-0.03	-0.11,	0.95	0.87,
<b>11</b> 7		0.22		0.06		1.02
Wave	<b>f</b>		£		£	
Wave 1	ref	0.10	ref	0.21	ref	0.04
Wave 2	-0.07	-0.18, 0.03	-0.21	-0.31, -0.10	0.06	-0.04, 0.16
		0.03		-0.10		-0.3, -
Wave 3	0.15	0.25	-0.25	-0.14	-0.20	0.5,
DUUZ	0.11	0.08,	0.00	0.04,	0.07	0.03,
BMIZ score	0.11	0.15	0.09	0.13	0.07	0.11
Initiation of CF > 6	0.12	0.01,	0.05	-0.06,	0.07	-0.03,
mo	0.12	0.23	0.05	0.16	0.07	0.17
Maternal Education						
No Education	ref		ref		ref	
Primary	0.11	0.01,	0.16	0.05,	0.05	-0.05,
I IIIIdi y	0.11	0.22	0.10	0.27	0.05	0.15
Secondary	0.22	0.11,	0.37	0.25,	0.17	0.07,
Secondary	0.22	0.33	0.07	0.48	0.17	0.28
Higher	0.15	-0.38,	0.29	-0.23,	0.16	-0.34,
	0.10	0.68	<b></b>	0.82	0.10	0.67

Table 4A: Results of linear models for motor development z-scores

Note: LAZ score: length-for-age z-score; BMIZ score: BMI-for-age z-score; CF: Complementary Feeding; Coeff: Coefficient

Note: The LAZ scores were lagged at 3, 9 and 16 mo for calculation of coefficient at 9, 16 and 24 mo respectively

Parameter	Coefficient at 16 mo	95% CI	Coefficient at 24 mo	95% CI
Intercept	-0.05	-0.17, 0.08	0.01	-0.14, 0.16
LAZ score	0.12	0.08, 0.16	0.11	0.07, 0.16
Intervention	0.12	0.03, 0.20	0.3	0.21, 0.39
BMIZ score	0.10	0.06, 0.14	0.02	-0.02, 0.07
Maternal Education				
No Education	ref		ref	
Primary	0.23	0.12, 0.34	0.1	-0.01, 0.22
Secondary	0.43	0.32, 0.54	0.17	0.06, 0.29
Higher	0.52	-0.01, 1.04	0.17	-0.41, 0.75

Table 4B: Results of linear models for cognitive development z-scores

Note: LAZ score: length-for-age z-score; BMIZ score: BMI-for-age z-score; CF: Complementary Feeding

Note: The LAZ scores were lagged at 9 and 16 mo for calculation of coefficient at 16 and 24 mo respectively

Stunting		Mo Sco	otor ore <sup>1</sup>	Diff	Diff 95%		Cognitive Score <sup>1</sup>		95%
Age	Status	Mea n	SE		CI	Mea n	SE	Diff	CI
9 mont hs	No Stunting	0.06	0.10	ref		-	-	-	-
	Moderate Stunting	- 0.16	0.10	0.22	0.14, 0.30	-	-	-	-
	Severe Stunting	- 0.38	0.12	0.43	0.28, 0.59	-	-	-	-
16 mont hs	No Stunting	0.10	0.10	ref		0.26	0.0 7	ref	
	Moderate Stunting	- 0.10	0.10	0.20	0.14, 0.27	0.09	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0 \\ 8 \end{array}$	0.17	0.10, 0.23
	Severe Stunting	- 0.31	0.11	0.41	0.28, 0.54	- 0.08	0.0 9	0.34	0.21, 0.46
24 mont hs	No Stunting	0.54	0.10	ref		0.27	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0 \\ 8 \end{array}$	ref	
	Moderate Stunting	0.40	0.09	0.14	0.09, 0.19	0.15	0.0 8	0.11	0.05, 0.17
	Severe Stunting	0.26	0.10	0.28	0.18, 0.38	0.04	0.0 9	0.22	0.11, 0.34
Note: \$	Severe Stunting :	<-3 LAZ	Z, Mode	rate Stunt	ing: >= -	3 and $<$	-2 LAZ	; No Stunt	ting: >=

**Table 5:** An adjusted estimated measure of motor and cognitivedevelopment z-score

Note: Severe Stunting : <-3 LAZ, Moderate Stunting: >= -3 and <-2 LAZ; No Stuntin -2 LAZ Diff: Difference

## FIGURES

Figure 1: Participant flow chart from January 2011 to January 2014





Figure 2: Mean motor z-score at 9, 16 and 24 months at different LAZ levels measured at previous timepoint (3, 9 & 16 months)

Note: Cat-1 is <-3 LAZ(Severe Stunting); Cat-2 is >= -3 & <- 2 LAZ(Moderate Stunting); Cat-3 is >=-2 LAZ(No Stunting)

Figure 3: Mean cognitive z-score at 16 and 24 months at different LAZ levels measured at previous timepoint (9 & 16 months)



Note: Cat-1 is <-3 LAZ(Severe Stunting); Cat-2 is >= -3 & <- 2 LAZ(Moderate Stunting); Cat-3 is >=-2 LAZ(No Stunting)

#### **CHAPTER III: IMPLICATIONS**

#### **Summary**

Chronic malnutrition among under-five children has been identified as a critical factor preventing these children from reaching developmental potential. This pathway could be linked through improper cognitive development. Considering WHO guidelines and national governmental policies to address chronic malnutrition, the consequences of linear growth failures in terms of cognitive development during early childhood remains unclear. This study considers linear growth as a potential determinant of early motor and cognitive development.

Among our study population, we observed a decrease in mean LAZ scores from -1.1 at 3 mo to -2.3 at 16 mo (Table 2). This decline in LAZ scores suggests worsening of growth with age. This finding aligned with the general trend of stunting in Bangladesh. The prevalence of stunting in Bangladesh increases with age, from 14 percent of children under age 6 months to 46 percent of children 18-23 months (47).

Our analysis showed that LAZ score was significantly associated with both motor and cognitive development during the first 24 mo of life. With each unit increase in LAZ score, there was a significant increase in motor z-scores (Range: 0.10 - 0.16) and cognitive z-scores (Range:0.11- 0.12). However, the association between Length and motor development as well as cognitive development was highest at 16 mo. Along with LAZ scores, BMI z-score was a significant predictor of the motor as well as cognitive z scores. Additionally, maternal education and intervention were also significantly associated with motor and cognitive development.

## **Public Health Implications**

Cognitive development cannot be undermined as it has an inter-generational effect (48). The early years of a child's life provide the best opportunity for physical nourishment and brain development. Stunting signals that the child has been deprived of nutrients for linear growth. Our findings suggest that the motor and cognitive development, could be affected by stunting as early as 3 mo. This evidence supports the need for nutritional interventions during pregnancy, which is likely to have a greater impact on a child's growth (49). However, the intervention should be delivered in the form of a package, including prevention and control of prenatal infections, care of the woman and child and stimulation of early development to address the multicausal problem of stunting. Although exclusive breastfeeding and adequate complementary food, catchup-growth can be achieved, benefits to cognitive development are uncertain. The CARE intervention involved behavior change communication (BCC) activities and multiple micronutrient supplementation. The study found the intervention to be significantly associated with an increase in the motor and cognitive scores. Thus, instead of focusing on a single approach, a multipronged approach including; nutritional supplement, fortification, deworming pills, and BCC activities should be taken to address stunting and poor child development. Considering the higher prevalence of stunting in Bangladesh, public health intervention at scale focusing on pregnant women and infants should be implemented to avoid consequences of stunting on poor child development.

#### **Possible Future Directions**

Although multiple mechanistic pathways linking linear growth retardation and motor or cognitive development have been proposed, the precise mechanism is not well understood. Furthermore, a child's motor, psychosocial, and cognitive development
occurs interactively and dynamically with significant influence from their social environments (47). The lack of focus of the present study on mechanistic assessment prohibits a definitive layout of a framework for pathways and mediators. Thus, taking present evidence further, future studies should be focused on identifying a definitive pathway linking linear growth (retardation) to the motor or cognitive development. Also, the linkage between CARE intervention and LAZ score was not explored. Thus, the association between various components of interventions and LAZ scores could be studied to develop the most effective strategy to prevent and control the problem of stunting as well as child development.

#### REFERENCES

- Perkins JM, Kim R, Krishna A, McGovern M, Aguayo VM, Subramanian SV. Understanding the association between stunting and child development in low- and middle-income countries: Next steps for research and intervention. Soc Sci Med. 2017 Nov;193:101–9.
- Bachrach S. Normal and Abnormal Development in the Infant and Pre-School Child. :25.
- Grantham-McGregor S, Cheung YB, Cueto S, Glewwe P, Richter L, Strupp B. Developmental potential in the first 5 years for children in developing countries. The Lancet. 2007 Jan;369(9555):60–70.
- Lancet\_ECD\_Executive\_Summary.pdf [Internet]. [cited 2019 Mar 21]. Available from: https://marlin-prod.literatumonline.com/pbassets/Lancet/stories/series/ecd/Lancet\_ECD\_Executive\_Summary.pdf
- Black MM, Pérez-Escamilla R, Rao SF. Integrating nutrition and child development interventions: scientific basis, evidence of impact, and implementation considerations. Adv Nutr Bethesda Md. 2015 Nov;6(6):852–9.
- Black MM, Walker SP, Fernald LCH, Andersen CT, DiGirolamo AM, Lu C, et al. Early childhood development coming of age: science through the life course. The Lancet. 2017 Jan 7;389(10064):77–90.
- McCoy DC, Peet ED, Ezzati M, Danaei G, Black MM, Sudfeld CR, et al. Early Childhood Developmental Status in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: National, Regional, and Global Prevalence Estimates Using Predictive Modeling. PLOS Med. 2016 Jun 7;13(6):e1002034.

- Martorell R, Schroeder DG, Rivera JA, Kaplowitz HJ. Patterns of Linear Growth in Rural Guatemalan Adolescents and Children. J Nutr. 1995 Apr 1;125(suppl\_4):1060S-1067S.
- de Onis M, Branca F. Childhood stunting: a global perspective. Matern Child Nutr. 2016 May;12(Suppl Suppl 1):12–26.
- WHO | The WHO Child Growth Standards [Internet]. WHO. [cited 2019 Mar 28].
   Available from: http://www.who.int/childgrowth/en/
- Walker SP, Wachs TD, Meeks Gardner J, Lozoff B, Wasserman GA, Pollitt E, et al. Child development: risk factors for adverse outcomes in developing countries. The Lancet. 2007 Jan;369(9556):145–57.
- Sudfeld CR, Charles McCoy D, Danaei G, Fink G, Ezzati M, Andrews KG, et al. Linear Growth and Child Development in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Meta-Analysis. PEDIATRICS. 2015 May 1;135(5):e1266–75.
- 13. Black RE, Victora CG, Walker SP, Bhutta ZA, Christian P, de Onis M, et al. Maternal and child undernutrition and overweight in low-income and middleincome countries. The Lancet. 2013 Aug;382(9890):427–51.
- Hamadani JD, Tofail F, Huda SN, Alam DS, Ridout DA, Attanasio O, et al. Cognitive deficit and poverty in the first 5 years of childhood in Bangladesh. Pediatrics. 2014 Oct;134(4):e1001-1008.
- 15. Stein AD, Wang M, DiGirolamo A, Grajeda R, Ramakrishnan U, Ramirez-Zea M, et al. Nutritional supplementation in early childhood, schooling, and intellectual

functioning in adulthood: a prospective study in Guatemala. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2008 Jul;162(7):612–8.

- 16. Miller AC, Murray MB, Thomson DR, Arbour MC. How consistent are associations between stunting and child development? Evidence from a metaanalysis of associations between stunting and multidimensional child development in fifteen low- and middle-income countries. Public Health Nutr. 2016;19(8):1339– 47.
- Walker SP, Wachs TD, Grantham-McGregor S, Black MM, Nelson CA, Huffman SL, et al. Inequality in early childhood: risk and protective factors for early child development. The Lancet. 2011 Oct;378(9799):1325–38.
- Victora CG, Adair L, Fall C, Hallal PC, Martorell R, Richter L, et al. Maternal and child undernutrition: consequences for adult health and human capital. Lancet. 2008 Jan 26;371(9609):340–57.
- Berkman DS, Lescano AG, Gilman RH, Lopez SL, Black MM. Effects of stunting, diarrhoeal disease, and parasitic infection during infancy on cognition in late childhood: a follow-up study. The Lancet. 2002 Feb;359(9306):564–71.
- 20. Aboud FE, Yousafzai AK. Global Health and Development in Early Childhood. Annu Rev Psychol. 2015;66(1):433–57.
- Larson LM, Yousafzai AK. A meta-analysis of nutrition interventions on mental development of children under-two in low- and middle-income countries. Matern Child Nutr. 2017;13(1):e12229.

- Mendez MA, Adair LS. Severity and Timing of Stunting in the First Two Years of Life Affect Performance on Cognitive Tests in Late Childhood. J Nutr. 1999 Aug 1;129(8):1555–62.
- 23. Walker SP, Chang SM, Powell CA, Grantham-McGregor SM. Effects of early childhood psychosocial stimulation and nutritional supplementation on cognition and education in growth-stunted Jamaican children: prospective cohort study. The Lancet. 2005 Nov 19;366(9499):1804–7.
- Daniels MC, Adair LS. Growth in Young Filipino Children Predicts Schooling Trajectories through High School. J Nutr. 2004 Oct 1;134(6):1439–46.
- Chang SM, Walker SP, Grantham-McGregor S, Powell CA. Early childhood stunting and later behaviour and school achievement. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2002;43(6):775–83.
- Cueto S. Height, Weight, and Education Achievement in Rural Peru. Food Nutr Bull. 2005 Jun 1;26(2\_suppl2):S251–60.
- 27. Prado EL, Abbeddou S, Adu-Afarwuah S, Arimond M, Ashorn P, Ashorn U, et al. Linear Growth and Child Development in Burkina Faso, Ghana, and Malawi. Pediatrics. 2016 Aug;138(2):e20154698.
- Scharf RJ, Stroustrup A, Conaway MR, DeBoer MD. Growth and development in children born very low birthweight. Arch Dis Child - Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2016 Sep 1;101(5):F433–8.
- 29. Buonomo E, Scarcella P, Tembo D, Giuliano M, Moramarco S, Palombi L, et al. Malnutrition decreases the odds of attaining motor milestones in HIV exposed

children: results from a paediatric DREAM cohort. Epidemiol Prev. 2015 Aug;39(4 Suppl 1):108–12.

- 30. Bhargava A. Modeling the effects of maternal nutritional status and socioeconomic variables on the anthropometric and psychological indicators of Kenyan infants from age 0–6 months. Am J Phys Anthropol. 2000;111(1):89–104.
- 31. John CC, Black MM, Nelson CA. Neurodevelopment: The Impact of Nutrition and Inflammation During Early to Middle Childhood in Low-Resource Settings. Pediatrics. 2017 Apr 1;139(Supplement 1):S59–71.
- 32. van Pareren YK, Duivenvoorden HJ, Slijper FSM, Koot HM, Hokken-Koelega ACS. Intelligence and Psychosocial Functioning during Long-Term Growth Hormone Therapy in Children Born Small for Gestational Age. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004 Nov 1;89(11):5295–302.
- 33. Lorntz B, Lima AA, Guerrant RL, Moore SR, Patrick PD, Niehaus MD, et al. Early childhood diarrhea is associated with diminished cognitive function 4 to 7 years later in children in a northeast Brazilian shantytown. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2002 May 1;66(5):590–3.
- 34. Guerrant DI, Moore SR, Lima AA, Patrick PD, Schorling JB, Guerrant RL. Association of early childhood diarrhea and cryptosporidiosis with impaired physical fitness and cognitive function four-seven years later in a poor urban community in northeast Brazil. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 1999 Nov;61(5):707–13.
- 35. Bredy TW, Humpartzoomian RA, Cain DP, Meaney MJ. Partial reversal of the effect of maternal care on cognitive function through environmental enrichment. Neuroscience. 2003 May 8;118(2):571–6.

- 36. Meaney MJ, Mitchell JB, Aitken DH, Bhatnagar S, Bodnoff SR, Iny LJ, et al. The effects of neonatal handling on the development of the adrenocortical response to stress: implications for neuropathology and cognitive deficits in later life. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 1991;16(1–3):85–103.
- 37. Crookston BT, Penny ME, Alder SC, Dickerson TT, Merrill RM, Stanford JB, et al. Children Who Recover from Early Stunting and Children Who Are Not Stunted Demonstrate Similar Levels of Cognition. J Nutr. 2010 Nov 1;140(11):1996–2001.
- 38. Kuklina EV, Ramakrishnan U, Stein AD, Barnhart HH, Martorell R. Early childhood growth and development in rural Guatemala. Early Hum Dev. 2006 Jul;82(7):425–33.
- 39. WHO | Training course and other tools [Internet]. WHO. [cited 2019 Apr 7]. Available from: https://www.who.int/childgrowth/training/en/
- 40. WHO | Motor development milestones [Internet]. [cited 2019 Mar 30]. Available from: https://www.who.int/childgrowth/standards/motor\_milestones/en/
- 41. ASQ-3 16-month questionnaire [Internet]. Ages and Stages. [cited 2019 Jan 18].
   Available from: https://agesandstages.com/resource/asq-3-16-monthquestionnaire/
- 42. Important Milestones: Your Baby By Two Years | CDC [Internet]. [cited 2019 Mar
  30]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/actearly/milestones/milestones2yr.html
- 43. WHO | Moderate malnutrition [Internet]. WHO. [cited 2019 Apr 10]. Available from: https://www.who.int/nutrition/topics/moderate\_malnutrition/en/

- 44. Pollitt E. A developmental view of the undernourished child: background and purpose of the study in Pangalengan, Indonesia. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2000 May;54 Suppl 2:S2-10.
- 45. Leroy JL, Frongillo EA. Perspective: What Does Stunting Really Mean? A Critical Review of the Evidence. Adv Nutr. 2019 Mar 1;10(2):196–204.
- 46. Wachs TD, Georgieff M, Cusick S, McEwen BS. Issues in the timing of integrated early interventions: contributions from nutrition, neuroscience, and psychological research. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2014;1308(1):89–106.
- 47. NIPORT/Bangladesh NI of PR and T-, Associates M and, International ICF. Bangladesh Demographic and Health Survey 2014. 2016 [cited 2019 Apr 11]; Available from: https://dhsprogram.com/publications/publication-fr311-dhs-finalreports.cfm
- Galler J, Rabinowitz DG. The Intergenerational Effects of Early Adversity. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci. 2014;128:177–98.
- 49. Dewey KG. Reducing stunting by improving maternal, infant and young child nutrition in regions such as South Asia: evidence, challenges and opportunities. Matern Child Nutr. 2016 May;12(Suppl Suppl 1):27–38.

### **APPENDICES**

## 1. Supplementary tables

Parameter	9 mo	95% CI	16 mo	95% CI	24 mo	95% CI
Intercept	0.04	-0.15, 0.22	0.21	0.01, 0.41	-0.11	-0.31, 0.08
LAZ score	0.11	0.07, 0.14	0.16	0.12, 0.2	0.12	0.08, 0.16
Intervention	0.15	0.06, 0.24	-0.03	-0.12, 0.06	0.94	0.86, 1.02
Wave		0.21		0.00		1.02
Wave 1	Ref		Ref		Ref	
Wave 2	- 0.07	-0.18, 0.03	-0.21	-0.31, -	0.06	-0.04, 0.16
Wave 3	0.07	0.03,	-0.25	0.1 -0.35, -	-0.2	-0.3, -
BMIZ score	0.11	0.25 0.08, 0.15	0.09	0.14 0.05, 0.13	0.07	0.11 0.03, 0.11
Initiation of CF > 6 mo	0.14	0.15 0.026, 0.25	0.04	-0.069, 0.16	0.06	-0.04, 0.17
Maternal Education	D (	0.23	Ð	0.10	Ð	0.17
No Education	Ref		Ref		Ref	
Primary	0.10	-0.004, 0.21	0.17	0.06, 0.28	0.04	-0.06, 0.15
Secondary	0.20	0.09, 0.32	0.38	0.26, 0.5	0.16	0.05, 0.27
Higher	0.14	-0.39, 0.68	0.31	-0.21, 0.84	0.17	-0.34, 0.67
Birth order	-	-0.08,	0.03	-0.03,	-0.02	-0.06,
Exclusive	0.03	0.03 -0.18,	0.02	0.08 -0.09,	0.02	0.03 -0.08,
Breastfeeding	0.08	0.03		0.13		0.12
Sex	- 0.04	-0.12, 0.05	0.01	-0.07, 0.1	-0.12	-0.2, - 0.04

Table 6A: Results of linear models for motor development z-scores

Note: LAZ score: length-for-age z-score; BMIZ score: BMI-for-age z-score; CF: Complementary Feeding

Note: The LAZ scores were lagged at 3, 9 and 16 mo for calculation of coefficient at 9, 16 and 24 mo respectively

Parameter	9 mo	95% CI	16 mo	95% CI
Intercept	-0.01	-0.21, 0.19	-0.22	-0.44, - 0.004
LAZ score	0.11	0.07, 0.15	0.10	0.05, 0.14
Intervention	0.11	0.02, 0.20	0.31	0.22, 0.40
Wave				
Wave 1	Ref		Ref	
Wave 2	0.03	-0.07, 0.13	0.31	0.20, 0.42
Wave 3	0.07	-0.03, 0.18	0.19	0.07, 0.30
BMIZ score	0.10	0.06, 0.14	0.02	-0.03, 0.06
Initiation of CF > 6 mo	-0.05	-0.159, 0.07	0.11	-0.004, 0.23
Maternal				
Education				
No Education	Ref		Ref	
Primary	0.21	0.1, 0.32	0.08	-0.04, 0.19
Secondary	0.40	0.28, 0.52	0.14	0.02, 0.27
Higher	0.49	-0.04, 1.01	0.13	-0.45, 0.70
Birth order	-0.03	-0.08, 0.02	0.02	-0.04, 0.07
Exclusive Breastfeeding	0.01	-0.09, 0.12	-0.04	-0.15, 0.07
Sex	0.04	-0.04, 0.13	0.003	-0.08, 0.09

Table 6B: Results of linear models for cognitive development z-scores

Note: LAZ score: length-for-age z-score; BMIZ score: BMI-for-age z-score; CF: Complementary Feeding

Note: The LAZ scores were lagged at 3, 9 and 16 mo for calculation of coefficient at 9, 16 and 24 mo respectively

### 2. IRB approval letter- Emory



Date: February 23, 2011

#### RE: Determination: Not Engaged in Human Subjects Research; IRB Review Not Required [eIRB#00045992]; Monitoring growth and nutritional status of children and their mothers in Bangladesh PI: Aryeh Stein

Dear Dr. Stein:

Thank you for requesting a determination from our office about the above-referenced project. Based on our review of the materials you provided, we have determined that it does not require IRB review because you and Emory will not be "engaged" in research with human subjects. To reach this conclusion we consulted the current guidance on engagement issued by the U.S. Office for Human Research Protections.

Specifically, in this project you will be serving as a consultant assisting in the design and analysis of an evaluation taking place in Bangladesh. All Emory investigators will only be interacting with de identified data. Given the not engaged status of Emory, no Emory investigator should be listed on the consent document and the consent used should be the one from the main study. It was also noted that the local IRB granted an approval period of 24 months; however we would suggest you recommend for them to conduct an annual review.

This determination could be affected by substantive changes in your role or Emory's role in the project. If such changes occur, please contact our office for clarification.

Thank you for consulting the IRB.

Sincerely,

Andrea Goosen, MPH Research Protocol Analyst This letter has been digitally signed

> Emory University 1599 Clifton Road, 5th Floor - Athana, Georgia 30322 Tel: 404.712.0720 - Fax: 404.727.1358 - Email: itb@emory.edu - Web: http://www.irb.emory.edu An equal opportunity, affirmative action university

#### 3. Study Protocol Approval- Bangladesh



#### Memorandum

#### 29 December 2010

- To: Dr ASG Faruque Principal Investigator of research protocol # PR-10093 Clinical Sciences Division (CSD)
- From: Professor AKM Nurul Anwar Chairman Ethical Review Committee (ERC)

( But Day buf me

Sub: Approval of research protocol # PR-10093

Thank you for your memo dated 28 December-2010 attaching the modified version of your research protocol # PR-10093 entitled "Monitoring Growth and Nutritional Status of Children in Rural Bangladesh" addressing the issues rasied by the reviewer to the satisfaction of the Committee. Accordingly, the Committee approved the research protocol. I have pleasure to inform you that your above protocol is approved through expedited review mechanism. You will be required to observe the following terms and conditions in Implementing the research protocol:

- As Principal Investigator, the ultimate responsibility for scientific and ethical conduct including the protection of the rights and welfare of study participants vest upon you. You shall also be responsible for ensuring competence, integrity and ethical conduct of other investigators and staff directly involved in this research protocol.
- You shall conduct the study in accordance with the ERC-approved protocol and shall fully comply with any subsequent determinations by the ERC.
- 3. You shall obtain prior approval from the Research Review Committee and the ERC for any modification in the approved research protocol and/or approved consent form(s), except in case of emergency to safeguard/eliminate apparent immediate hazards to study participants. Such changes must immediately be reported to the ERC Chairman.
- You shall recruit/enroll participants for this study strictly adhering to the criteria mentioned in the research protocol.
- 5. You shall obtain legally effective informed consent (i.e. consent should be free from coercion or undue influence) from the selected study participants or their legally responsible representative, as approved in the protocol, using the approved consent form prior to their enrollment in this study. Before obtaining consent, all prospective study participants must be adequately informed about the purpose(s) of the study, its methods and

1960-2010 Celebrating 50 Years of Service to Bangladesh and the World

International Centre for Diarrhoeal Disease Research, Bangladesh 68, Shaheed Tajuddin Ahmed Sarani, Mohakhali, Dhaka 1212, Bangladesh Mail : ICDDR,B, GPO Box 128, Dhaka1000, Bangladesh Fax: 880-2-8823116,8812530,9885657,8811686,8812529,8826050,8811568 Phone : 880-2-8860523-32, Web : http://www.icddrb.org procedures, and also what would be done if they agree and also if they do not agree to participate in the study. They must be informed that their participation in the study is voluntary and that they can withdraw their participation any time without any prejudice. Signed consent forms should be preserved for a period of at least five years following official termination of the study.

- You shall promptly report the occurrence of any Adverse Event or Serious Adverse Event or unanticipated problems of potential risk to study participants or others to the ERC in writing within 24 hours of such occurrences.
- Any significant new findings, developing during the course of this study that might affect the risks and benefits and thus influence either participation in the study or continuation of participation should be reported in writing to the participants and the ERC.
- 8. Data and/or samples should be collected and interviews should be conducted, as specified in the ERC-approved protocol, and confidentiality must be maintained. Data/samples must be protected by reasonable security, safeguarding against risks such as their loss or unauthorized access, destructions, used by others, and modification or disclosure of data. Data/samples should not be disclosed, made available to or use for purposes other than those specified in the protocol, and shall be preserved for a period, as specified under Centre's policies/practices.
- You shall promptly and fully comply with the decision of the ERC to suspend or withdraw its approval for the research protocol.
- You shall report progress of research to the ERC for continuing review of the implementation of the research protocol as stipulated in the ERC Guidelines. Relevant excerpt of ERC Guidelines and 'Annual/Completion Report for Research Protocol involving Human Subjects' are attached for your information and guidance.

I wish you success in running the above-mentioned study.

Copy: Director, CSD

Coordination Manager, RA

- 4. Assessment of Motor and cognitive and motor development at 9, 16 & 24 mo
  - a. Motor development at 9 months:

	Mother Study ID		
5. Infant Motor Development Milestones <sup>4</sup>			
Read: Now I would like to ask you about (INFANT NA	ME).		
5.1 How old is INFANT NAME?	88 = Don't Know	Days Months	
<b>Read:</b> Now I would like to specifically begin with a few ability to move	questions about how (INFANT NAME)	is develop	oing, and his/her

	move.		
5.2	Can (INFANT NAME) sit without any help, assistance, or support?	01 = Yes 02 = No 88 = Don't Know	
5.3	Can (INFANT NAME) stand with assistance or support?	01 = Yes 02 = No 77 = Yes, stands without assistance or support 88 = Don't Know	
5.4	Can (INFANT NAME) crawl on his/her hands and knees?	01 = Yes 02 = No 88 = Don't Know	
5.5	Can (INFANT NAME) walk with assistance or support?	01 = Yes 02 = No 77 = Yes, walks without assistance or support 88 = Don't Know	
5.6	Can (INFANT NAME) stand alone, with no assistance or support?	01 = Yes 02 = No 88 = Don't Know	
5.7	Can (INFANT NAME) walk alone, with no assistance or support?	01 = Yes 02 = No 88 = Don't Know	

<sup>4</sup> WHO Multicentre Growth Reference Study Group. WHO Motor Development Study: Windows of achievement for six gross motor development milestones. Acta Paediatrica Supplement 2006;450:36-95.

Page 11 of 44

b. Motor and Cognitive development at 16 months through Ages and Stages Questionnaie- Third edition

## ASQ3

This is a translation of Ages & Stages Questionnaires®, Third Edition (ASQ-3TM): A Parent Completed Child Monitoring System, by Jane Squires, Ph.D., and Diane Bricker, Ph.D. Originally published in the United States of America by Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co., Inc. Copyright © 2009 by Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co., Inc. Ages & Stages Questionnaires is a registered trademark and ASQ-3 and the ASQ-3 logo are trademarks of Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co., Inc.

(এটি Ages & Stages Questionnaires®, তৃতীয় সংক্ষরন (ASQ-3TM) এর বঙ্গানুবাদ। এটি অভিভাবক দ্বারা প্রণকৃত একটি শিগু পর্যবেক্ষনের প্রণালী, যেটা জেন স্কুইরস, (পি.এইচ.ডি.) এবং ডায়ান বৃকার, (পি এইচ.ডি.) তৈরী করেছেন। এটা প্রাথমিক ভাবে পল এইচ ব্রুকস প্রকাশনী কো., Inc. কর্তৃক ইউনাইটেড স্টেট অব আমেরিকায় এবং পরবর্তীতে এর কপিরাইট© ২০০৯ সালে পল এইচ ব্রুকস প্রকাশনী কো., Inc. কর্তৃক প্রকাশিত হয় । Ages & Stages Questionnaires একটি নিবদ্ধকৃত ট্রেডমার্ক । এছাড়া ASQ-3 এবং ASQ-3 লোগো-ও পল এইচ ব্রুকস প্রকাশনী কো., Inc. এর একটি ট্রেডমার্ক ।)

St ID / / / / / /

#### Ages & Stages Questionnaire ®

#### Child & Family Information

 Child's Name:
 Date of birth / \_ / \_ / \_ / \_ / Sex: M=1, F=2 / \_ /

 Mother's name:
 Age: / \_ / Father's name:

 Address: Bari name:
 Vill:

 Post:
 Dist:
 Mobile no:

Name of interviewer: \_\_\_\_\_ Date of interview / \_ / \_ / \_ / \_ /

16 Month (15 month 0 days through 16 month 30 days) Scoring: 10=Yes, 5=Sometimes, 0=No

Communication	'হাঁ'	'মাঝে	'না'	Score
		মাঝে'		
১. ওকি বইয়ের ছবিতে হাত দিয়ে দেখায়, ছবিতে চাপড় দেয় অথবা ছবিটি নিতে চেষ্টা করে?				
২. ওকি "মা, বাবা" ছাড়া আরো চারটি বা তার বেশী শব্দ বলতে পারে? (যদি হাঁা হয় তাহলে নামগুলো				
জিজ্ঞেস করতে হবে এবং গুনতে হবে যেন ৪টি হয়। মাকে উদাহরন দেয়া যাবে না।) (Probe-				
আপনার বাচ্চা কি কি শব্দ বলতে পারে?)				
৩. ও কিছু চাইলে কি সেটা আঙুল দিয়ে দেখায়?				
<ol> <li>ওকে ওর চেনা/ ব্যবহারের কোন জিনিস অন্য ঘর/বাইরে থেকে নিয়ে আসতে বললে</li> </ol>				
ওকি তা নিয়ে আসতে পারে? (জামা, বল, গ্লাস ইত্যাদি যা এই ঘরে নেই।)				

# ASQ3

Ages & Stages Questionnaires®, Third Edition (ASQ-3TM), Squires and Bricker. © 2009 Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co. Translated by permission. কুইরস এবং বৃকার এর (Ages & Stages Questionnaires®, তৃতীয় সংস্করন (ASQ-3TM), © ২০০৯, পল এইচ ব্রুকস প্রকাশনী কো. কর্তৃক প্রকাশিত। এটি অনুবাদের জন্য অনুমতি প্রাণ্ড।)

Communication	'হাঁা'	'মাঝে মাঝে'	'না'	Score
৫. আপনি কিছু (২টি শব্দ দিয়ে) বললে ওকি ওনে ওনে সেই কথাটি বলে? (যেমন-বাড়ী যাও, মা যায়,				
বাবা খেলে) (ওর কথা বুঝতে কিছুটা অসুবিধা হলেও হবে ।) (Probe- আপনি ওর সামনে কোন কথা				
বললে ও কি তা অনুকরণ করে?) বাচ্চার বলা বাক্যের একটি উদাহরণ				
৬. ওকি "মা, বাবা" ছাড়া আরো ৮টি বা তার বেশী শব্দ বলতে পারে? (যদি হ্যাঁ হয় তাহলে নামগুলো				
জিজ্ঞেস করতে হবে এবং গুনতে হবে যেন ৮টি হয়। মাকে উদাহরন দেয়া যাবে না।) (Probe-				
আপনার বাচ্চা কি কি শব্দ বলতে পারে?) মোট নাম্বার				
মেচ শাখার	: 'হাঁা'	'মাঝে	'না'	Score
Gross Motor	201	নাজে মাঝে'	-11	Score
১. মেঝেতে বসিয়ে রাখলে কোন কিছু না ধরে ওকি নিজে নিজে উঠে দাঁড়িয়ে 📃 🔘		- 110 1.		
কয়েক পা সামনের দিকে ফেলতে পারে?				
২. ওকি কোন আসবাবপত্র অথবা অন্য কোন জিনিসের উপরে একা একা উঠতে 👘 🔊 🔊				
পারে? যেমন: খাঁট, চেয়ার ইত্যাদি।				
৩. ওকি <u>কোন কিছু না ধরে</u> হাঁটু ভাজ করে বসে মেঝে থেকে কোন খেলনা 💦 📃 🕵				
তুলে আবার (নিজে নিজে) দাঁড়িয়ে যায়?				
8. হামাগুড়ি না দিয়ে ওকি অল্প অল্প হার্টতে পারে?				
৫. একটু আধটু পড়ে গেলেও ওকি ভালোভাবে হাঁটতে পারে?				
৬. কোন কিছু করতে বা ধরতে চাইলে ওকি একা একা চেয়ারের উপর উঠতে				
পারে? (যেমন- কোন খেলনা তাকের উপর থেকে নেয়ার জন্য।)				
মেট নামার:	1			1
Fine Motor	'হাঁ'	'মাঝে মাঝে'	'না'	Score
১. ওকি আপনার সাহায্যে বইয়ের পাতা উল্টায়? (আপনি একটা পাতা ওর জন্য ধরে রাখতে পারেন।)				
২, ওকি সামনের দিকে ছোট বল ছুঁড়ে মারতে পারে? (যদি বলটি ফেলে দেয় স্কোর পাবে না।)				
৩. ওকি একটি গুটি বা খেলনার উপরে আরেকটি গুটি বা খেলনা রাখতে পারে?				
(সুতার রীল, মা্যাচবস্ক্র/ছেটবাক্স বা ১ ইঞ্চি মাপের ছেট খেলনা।)				

# ASQ3

Ages & Stages Questionnaires®, Third Edition (ASQ-3TM), Squires and Bricker. © 2009 Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co. Translated by permission. কুইবস এবং বৃকার এর (Ages & Stages Questionnaires®, তৃতীয় সংস্করন (ASQ-3TM), © ২০০৯, পল এইচ ব্রুকস প্রকাশনী কো. কর্তৃক পকাশিত। এটি অনুবাদের জন্য অনুমতি প্রাঙ্গ।)

Fine Motor	'হ্যাঁ'	'মাঝে মাঝে'	'না'	Score
৪. ওকি নিজে নিজে ৩টি গুটি বা খেলনা একটার উপরে একটা রাখতে পারে?				
(সুতার রীল, ম্যাচবক্স/ছোটবাক্স বা ১ ইঞ্চি মাপের ছোট খেলনা)				
৫. ওকি আকাঁর সময় কলম অথবা পেলিলের মাথা/ সামনের				
দিক দিয়ে কাগজের উপর দাগ দেয়?				
৬. ওকি নিজে নিজে বইয়ের পাতা উন্টাতে পারে? (একবারে <u>কয়েকটি পাতা</u> উন্টালেও হবে।)				
মোট নাথার:				•
Problem Solving	'হাঁ'	"মাঝে	'না'	Score
-		মাঝে'		
১. ওর সামনে কাগজের উপর পেন্সিল/রং পেন্সিল দিয়ে কোন কিছু আঁকাআকি করলে ও কি আপনার				
দেখাদেখি আঁকাআকি করে? (যদি ও নিজে থেকে আঁকতে পারে 'হ্যাঁ' স্কোর পাবে।)				
-২. ও কি একটা স্বচ্ছ বোতলে কোন জিনিসের ছোট টুকরা ফেলতে/ঢুকাতে পারে? যেমন- প্লাস্টিকের বোতল বা ফীডার।				
৩. ও কি কতগুলো ছোট খেলনা একটার পর একটা কোন বাটিতে বা বাক্সে ফেলতে পারে?				
৪. অক্স দুরে রাখা কোন জিনিস একটি চামচ বা লাঠি দিয়ে কিভাবে কাছে আনা				
যায় তা দেখিয়ে দিলে ওকি আপনার মত করে কাছে আনার চেষ্টা করে?				
৫. ওর হাতে একটি পেন্সিল/রং পেন্সিল দিলে ও কি নিজে থেকেই আঁকাআকি করে? (ওকে দেখিয়ে না দিলে।)				
৬. বোতলের ভিতর কোন ছোট জিনিস ঢুকালে ও কি  বোতল উল্টিয়ে/ উপুড় করে সেটাকে বের করে				
আনতে পারে? (আপনি চাইলে তা করে দেখাতে পারেন।)				
(** ৫ নাম্বার Item 'হাঁা' অথবা 'মাঝে মাঝে' ক্ষোর পেলে ১ নাম্বার Item 'হাঁা' কোর পাবে।)		মোট না	<b>মার:</b>	•
Personal Social	'হাঁ'	'মাঝে মাঝে'	'না'	Score
১. খাবার পড়ে গেন্সেও (ফেন্সে ছেড়ে) ও কি চামচ দিয়ে নিজে নিজে খেতে পারে?				
২. জুতা, মোজা, টুপি খোলার সময় ওকি আপনার সাথে সাথে খুলতে চেষ্টা করে?				
<ul> <li>৩. ৬ কি মানুষ/ প্রানী জাতীয় নরম পুতৃল জড়িয়ে ধরে খেলে?</li> </ul>				
<ol> <li>আয়নায় নিজেকে দেখলে ওকি তার খেলনাটি আয়নায় দেখা নিজের ছবিটাকে দিতে চায়? (খেলনা দিয়ে</li> </ol>				
আয়নায় বাড়ি মারলেও 'হ্যাঁ' স্কোর পাবে)				
৫. আপনি যাতে ওর দিকে খেয়াল করেন অথবা যদি আপনাকে কিছু দেখাতে চায় তখন কি আপনার হাত বা				
জামা ধরে টানে?				
৬. কোন কাজে সাহায্যের দরকার হলে ওকি আপনার কাছে আসে যেমন- বোতলের মুখ খুলতে অথবা তার খেলনা ঠিক করতে?				
মোট নাম্বার:	1			1

# ASQ3

Ages & Stages Questionnaires®, Third Edition (ASQ-3TM), Squires and Bricker. © 2009 Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co. Translated by permission.

ক্ষইরস এবং বৃকার এর (Ages & Stages Questionnaires®, তৃতীয় সংস্করন (ASQ-3TM), © ২০০৯, পল এইচ ব্রুকস প্রকাশনী কো. কর্তৃক প্রকাশিত। এটি অনুবাদের জন্য অনুমতি প্রাণ্ড।)

OVERALL

১. ওকি কানে ঠিকমত গুনে? হাঁ=১, না=০ /\_/
২. ওর সমবয়সী অন্যান্য বাচ্চাদের মত কথা বলতে পারে? হাঁ=১, না=০ /\_/
৩. ও যা যা বলে তার বেশিরভাগ কি আপনি বুন্ধতে পারেন? হাঁ=১, না=০ /\_/
৪. সমবয়সী অন্য বাচ্চাদের মত ও কি হাটতে, দৌড়াতে এবং কোনকিছুতে উঠতে পারে? হাঁ=১, না=০ /\_/
৫. আপনাদের বংশে কারো কি কানে কম তনার কোন সমস্যা ছিল/আছে? হাঁ=০, না=১ /\_/
৬. ও চোখে ঠিকমত দেখে কি না এ ব্যাপারে আপনার কোন সন্দেহ আছে কি? হাঁ=০, না=১ /\_/
৭. ওর অন্য কোন ধরনের অসুস্থতা আছে কিনা? হাঁ=০, না=১ /\_/
৯. ওর কি অন্য কোন ধরনের সমস্যা আছে? হাঁ=০, না=১ /\_/

## c. Motor and cognitive development at 24 months through CDC questionnaire

Mother Study ID

### 12. Child Cognitive Development<sup>7</sup>

Instruction: You (interviewer) will be staying in the household for a long time. Try to observe the child's activity and match those while taking the responses. Record 01 for "Yes" or 02 for "No" for each question.

#### Language/Communication

		Yes (01)	No (02)
12.1	Does your child point to things or pictures when they are named?		
12.2	Does your child know names of family members?		
12.3	Does your child say sentences with 2 to 4 words		
12.4	Does your child follow simple instructions? (You may say, "Bring me your shoes." or "Go, get your blanket.")		
12.5	Does your child repeat words overhears in conversations?		

#### Social/Emotional

		Yes (01)	No (02)
12.6	Does your child copy others, especially adults and older children?		
12.7	Does your child gets excited when with other children		
12.8	Is your child showing more independence? (Wants to est meals or put on clothes by him/herself)		
12.9	Does your child show defiant behavior? (Does not listen when you tell him/her NOT to do something)		

#### Problem solving

		Yes (01)	No (02)
12.10	Can your child find things hidden under two or three covers/sheets?		
12.11	Does your child recognize shapes and colors?		
12.12	Does your child use one hand more than the other?		
12.13	Does your follow simple instruction? (When you ask him/her "Pick up your shoes and put them under the bed.")		

#### Movement/Physical development

		(01)	(02)
12.14	Does your child stand on tiptoe?		
12.15	Does your child kick a ball?		
12.16	Does your child run?		
12.17	Does your child clim onto and down from furniture without help?		

<sup>7</sup> Adapted from CDC's Developmental Milestones for 2-year olds (www.adc.gov/actearly)

Page 33 of 38

